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Introduction
Background
Report structure
Don’t read this stuff – just a repeat of the questionnaire placed here for reference.
Artists have always sought opportunities to showcase their work internationally and to travel and experience different cultures in order to develop their work in new directions. Globalisation and advances in technology have increased opportunities for artists to present their work in the international marketplace although current environmental pressures are having an impact.

National arts funding agencies play a role in supporting artists to develop and showcase their work internationally. There is a perception by some, that in recent times the focus on cultural diplomacy may have shifted the priorities for many countries away from direct support for individual artists and market development towards using artistic activity to promote national identity and culture.

IFACCA has been interested for some time in exploring how national arts funding agencies manage their support for international arts activities in the current environment. For the purposes of this research we have defined ‘international arts activity’ to cover the whole range of activity such as market development (export and sales of artworks, national promotions at expos and art fairs, touring, markets, festivals and biennales); artistic development (artist-to-artist networks, cultural exchange, residencies, networking); cultural diplomacy; and arts activity as part of foreign aid programs.

The aims of this background research are to:

· identify the critical issues for national arts funding agencies in terms of their engagement on the international stage; and
· gather information from national arts funding agencies about their priorities for international activities in other countries and how these priorities are determined and evaluated.

IFACCA has published some research reports related to this topic, the most recent being IFACCA D’Art Report No. 39, Achieving Intercultural Dialogue through the Arts and Culture?  Concepts, Policies, Programs, Practices, December 2009 and IFACCA D’Art Report No. 17, Artists’ International Mobility Programs, December 2004. While it is not our intention to repeat this work there may be some areas of overlap where we can reference and refresh the previous studies. The IFACCA website contains a list of our D’Art research topics. We welcome suggestions for additional resources at info@ifacca.org
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Appendix 1:  Compilation of responses
Policy development and program administration for international arts activities
Question 1: Which government agencies in your country are involved in policy development and program administration for international arts activities?  
Australia
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	Australia Council for the Arts 
Arts Victoria 
Other state and territory governments to a much lesser degree
	www.australiacouncil.gov.au www.arts.vic.gov.au

	Arts or culture ministry
	Department of Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts
	www.environment.gov.au

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Department of Foreign Affairs – Public Diplomacy Branch
	www.dfat.gov.au

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Various embassies generally determined by the ambassador
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Australian International Cultural Council chaired by both the minister for the Arts and the Minister for Foreign Affairs
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	None
	



Burundi
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	Not specified
	

	Arts or culture ministry
	Ministry for Youth, Sports and Culture
	www.burundi.gov.bi

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Not specified
	

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Not specified
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Not specified
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	Not specified
	



Canada
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	Canada Council for the Arts 
	www.canadacouncil.ca


	Arts or culture ministry
	Department of Canadian Heritage
	www.pch.gc.ca

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada (DFAIT)
	www.international.gc.ca

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Network of cultural representatives abroad at embassies, consulates, high commissions, including the Canadian Cultural Centre in Paris
	www.international.gc.ca

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Led by the Department of Canadian Heritage, the International Strategic Framework Directors General Working Group
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	None
	



Germany
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	German Federal Cultural Foundation
	www.kulturstiftung-bund.de

	Arts or culture ministry
	Federal Government Commissioner for Culture and the Media
	www.bundesregierung.de

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Not specified
	

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Not specified
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Not specified
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	Not specified
	



Ireland
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	The Arts Council
	www.artscouncil.ie

	Arts or culture ministry
	Culture Ireland
	www.cultureireland.gov.ie

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Not specified
	

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Not specified
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Not specified
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	Not specified
	



The Arts Council is the national agency for funding, developing and promoting the arts in Ireland.  Its role in an international context is chiefly concerned with: is the national agency for funding, developing and promoting the arts in Ireland.
· the  professional development of artists as they deepen and extend their practice through opportunities abroad; and
· audience development and the enrichment of practice at home through support for international work touring into Ireland (largely through support of Irish venues and festivals). 

Culture Ireland is the state agency for the promotion of Irish arts worldwide, working under the aegis of the Minister for Tourism, Culture and Sport.  The role of Culture Ireland is chiefly concerned with:

· international presentation by Irish artists of their work (through tours, performances and exhibitions), and 
· promoting future presentation of Irish arts work abroad through contact with international presenters and promoters (through showcases, promotional missions and other strategic initiatives). 

New Zealand
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	The Arts Council of New Zealand known as ‘Creative New Zealand’
	

	Arts or culture ministry
	Ministry for Culture and Heritage
	

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Ministry for Foreign Affairs and Trade
	

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Various as identified through the Cultural Diplomacy International Program
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Cultural Diplomacy International Program – supported by an inter-agency steering group including the Ministry for Foreign Affairs and Trade, New Zealand Trade and Enterprise and Tourism New Zealand
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	Toi Maori Aotearoa, funded by the Government, is a charitable trust which promotes Maori visual, performing and literary arts.
	



South Korea
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	Arts Council Korea
	www.arko.or.ko

	Arts or culture ministry
	Ministry of Culture and Tourism
	www.mcst.go.kr

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Not specified
	

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Not specified
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Not specified
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	Not specified
	



Spain
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	Not specified
	

	Arts or culture ministry
	Ministry of Culture – together with the autonomous communities in their respective geographical areas.
	www.mcu.es

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Spanish Agency of International Cooperation and Development (AECID)
	www.aecid.es
www.maec.es

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Yes
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	State Society for Cultural Action (SEAC)
State Society of international Expositions (SEI)
Society for Culture in the Exterior (SEACEX)
Society for Cultural Commemorations (SECC)
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	Not specified
	



Sweden
	National arts funding agency (arts council):
	Swedish Arts Council
	

	Arts or culture ministry
	Ministry of Culture, Sweden
	

	Foreign Affairs ministry
	Swedish Institute (SI)
Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA)
	

	Embassies or High Commissions
	Through SI or SIDA
	

	Joint committee of government agencies
	Not specified
	

	Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities
	Not specified
	



Support for international arts activities
Question 2: If your organisation supports international arts activities, what are your current objectives for that support over the next three to five years?  Do you have an international strategy?  If so, please attach a copy.
Australia
· The Australia Council supports international activity across two primary areas – artistic practice and market development.
· There isn’t any international strategy for the artistic practice.  Support is provided through mentorships, residencies and research.  The Australia Council has a series of dedicated studios for residencies but provide grants to the sector beyond the list of studios.
· There is an international market development strategy (2008-2011) to support tours, exhibitions, pre tour activity, showcases and trade fair representation.  The strategy was tied to 2 artform priorities: music and literature and it was equally tied to geographical priorities that were established based on existing relationships and the regions capacity to sustain lasting relationships with Australia artists.  See attached.
· Very little support is provided under the rubric of cultural diplomacy.  Generally, support of this nature is tied to Indigenous art and artists and country profiles initiated by the Department of Foreign Affairs where there is a shared interest (i.e. South Korea in 2011).
Burundi
· Our ministry provides payments related to the journey of out folk groups participating in international festivals, or when they are invited by foreign producers.  Unfortunately our department never pays their international transport which limits outputs..  the new cultural policy of Burundi urged the government to pay serious attention to the development of international exchanges of artists.
Canada
· In its strategic plan Moving Forward 2008-2011, the CCA writes that it should accord a high priority to the national and international mobility of its artists...and increase budgets for international dissemination in collaboration with other federal funders. It also states that it will make partnerships a key element in its operations.
· Over the next 3-5 years, the CCA will continue to offer a similar level of support for international arts activities such as international travel and touring. 
· While there is no formal international strategy, all international activities by the disciplinary sections and strategic offices are guided by senior management. Additionally, the Audience and Market Development Office (AMDO) has objectives for supporting international arts activities over the next 2 years. (e.g., strengthening partnerships)  
Germany
· The Federal Cultural Foundation supports artistic productions and grants project funding for thematic areas which fall within the scope of the federal government’s cultural and artistic funding activities.  Funding can be awarded to all non-commercial areas and fields of creative activity: the fine arts, performing arts, literature, music, film, photography, architecture, cultural-historic exhibitions, new media, applied and cross-disciplinary artistic and cultural endeavours.  
· The Federal Cultural Foundation considers projects to have an international context if they are coordinated in cooperation with at least one partner located outside Federal Republic of Germany, or at least one of the important project events takes place outside the borders of the Federal Republic of Germany, or they require the significant involvement of artists from different countries, or international cooperation is necessary for their preparation and research, or they bring together a large number of participants or constituent projects, or necessitate the involvement of internationally renowned institutions.
Ireland
The Arts Council’s work in the area of international arts can be seen in terms of five distinct areas:
1. The Travel & Training Award to support the professional development and training of the artist internationally.
2. The provision of an artist residency at Location One in New York City 
3. The Venice Biennales for visual arts and architecture
4. The provision of information and advice through the European Cultural Contact Point which is hosted by the Arts Council.
5. The Arts Council’s relationship with the Arts Council of Northern Ireland.  This involves specifying joint policy objectives and exchanging information on jointly funded organisations and arts matters with a North/South dimension.
New Zealand
· The objectives are to: contribute to growing NZ economic prosperity by presenting NZ culture to key audiences; and project in targeted settings a distinctive profile of NZ as a creative and diverse society with a unique contemporary culture.
· There is no international strategy.
Spain
· No response.
Sweden
· The objectives for the Arts Council’s international works takes its starting point in the overall objective for the Arts Council, which is to promote a prosperous, high-quality cultural life for everyone throughout the country. International and intercultural cooperation is a necessity for arts and culture to develop. The Arts Council supports mobility for artists, access to international arts and culture for audiences in Sweden, as well as development of arts and culture through cooperation between artists/practitioners of arts and culture. The Arts Council also works to strengthen the role of arts and culture in all of Sweden’s international relations.
· The Arts Council’s international strategy (2007-2010) is currently being revised.
Question 3: Are there staff in your organisation who have specific responsibility for managing support for international arts activities?  If yes, how many or what proportion of the overall agency staff numbers work solely on international programs and how many or what proportion of staff work on international programs as well as having other responsibilities?  Are the staff located in one unit or spread throughout the organisation?
Australia
· Dedicated staff at the Australia Council – 8 people, including Director and Executive Director that are part of the Market Development team
· Additional artform staff are involved in specific grant programs (i.e. visual arts studios, international touring programs) – approx. 3-4 staff members
Burundi
· Burundi’s participation in international programs often go by UNESCO or the OIF in terms of multilateral engagement strategies on internationally agreed strategies.
Canada
· Out of approximately 233 staff, 15-17 program officers in the disciplinary sections have responsibility for international programs. These officers are also responsible for other programs.
· The Audience and Market Development Office (AMDO) is the primary office responsible for international market development with 3 full-time staff.
· The Coordinator for Partnership and Networks is responsible for supporting the Director and CEO’s role as a Board member of the IFACCA and is the primary liaison for IFACCA’s Secretariat.
· In total, up to 21 staff (or 11% of total staff) work on international programs. 
Germany
· All members of the General Project Funding Department of the Program Department work on international activities.  It is about one half of the total staff number.
Ireland
· Three staff members work in international programs and all have responsibilities in other areas also.  For their international responsibilities, they are all located in one unit.
New Zealand
· Two staff work on international activities.  They are located in one unit of the organisation.
Spain
· Yes.
Sweden
· Approx. three people working full time on international programmes (coordinator, officer for Swedish literature abroad, EU Contact Point)
· The secretariat for the Astrid Lindgren Memorial Award (three people)
· Officers for different art fields (theatre, dance, music etc.) involved in support for international cooperation within the respective field. Research/analysis personnel involved in international projects.
· The international issues are spread throughout the organisation, one coordinator oversees all international affairs
Question 4: In the current year, what proportion of the agency's budget is allocated to support international arts activity?  How does this compare with the situation in the previous three to five years?  In the next three to five years do you expect this amount will increase or decrease?  (NB: This information will only be used in an aggregated form so individual responses will remain confidential).
Australia
· Approximately $11.9 M per annum is allocated to international activities of which $5.05 M is allocated to key organisations through their triennial support related to international activities.  Of the remaining $6.85 M, $4.07 M is allocated through international market development with the remaining $2.78 M allocated through artform boards associated with residencies, mentorships and research.
· The figures fluctuate from year to year based on level of activity.
· Note: The Australia Council does not have a system in place to monitor the level of activity or financial investment through key organisations or major performing arts organisations.
Burundi
· 0.8% of 350.000 dollars allocated to cultural activities.
Canada
· In 2009-10, the overall investment in international activities in dedicated programs was $4.8 million, representing approx. 3.3% of the overall grants support. Overall investment in dedicated (i.e., all program funds are for international activities) and non-dedicated programs (i.e., partial funds are for international activities) was $11.9 million, representing 8.1% of the overall grants support. These levels were achieved with some changes in program priorities. These figures do not include the Art Bank, Public Lending Right Commission, special funds, Canadian Commission for UNESCO, and administration. 
· Over the past four fiscal years, funding for work in an international context through dedicated programs has increased. Funding allocated through non-dedicated programs fluctuates, depending on the nature of applications. For 2009-10, the budgets for dedicated programs remained stable. For the next three years, it is projected that the funding will remain stable. 
· The Audience and Market Development Office invests approximately $250,000 per year in services such as touring workshops and delegations at trade fairs.  These international activities were designed to be complementary to international programs at the Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT) and the Department of Canadian Heritage (PCH). However, the programs at DFAIT and PCH have been cancelled and the Canada Council for the Arts does not have the capacity nor mandate to fill the gap. 
· Note that data is subject to change.
Germany
· Nearly the total budget is allocated to support international activities, which means around 35 million euros.
Ireland
· In the region of 1% of the agency's overall budget is allocated to directly support international arts activity.  The Arts Council's overall funding from Government has been subject to significant reductions in the last two years and consequently its own budgets have been reduced.  Further decreases are expected.
New Zealand
· In the current year the proportion of the ministry’s budget allocated to international activities is 10.9%.
Spain
· No response.
Sweden
· Approx. 50 million SEK are earmarked for international cooperation in our budget 2010. Since 2007, this is an increase of approx. 20 million, due to a new assignment to promote Swedish literature (since 2008) as well as increases in support for international/intercultural cooperation. This is, however, still a very small part of the Arts Council’s budget of approx. 1,7 billion SEK.
· Within the next few years there might be a fluctuation either way. The Arts Council is working to increase the way general support for arts and culture is used, and to integrate international cooperation into the general support. We are also working to ensure that artists and cultural practitioners are involved in other aspects of Swedish foreign relations, such as development cooperation, export/trade or nation branding.
Question 5: As a national arts funding agency, which of the following international cultural activities do you support?  Please give examples of your grant programs or other programs of support for each activity.  Please also indicate the level of funding associated with each of these categories as a proportion of the agency’s international arts support budget.

Australia
· Market development driven by export, fees generated or sales of arts product – This covers tours, exhibitions, author readings, pre tour activity, tour development, showcases, trade fairs, websites, ‘brands’ , coproductions and incoming buyers.  Example, Sounds Australia brand developed to represent the Australian music industry at key music markets, such as The Great Escape and SXSW.  This support included a dedicated export music producer, Millie Millegate, showcasing support for bands, 2-year funding for music managers and support for incoming buyers to 3 music markets in Australia.  
 
· Artistic development eg, exchanges, residencies – This covers predominantly Australia artists travelling overseas for residencies, research and mentorship opportunities.  There are relatively few reciprocal programs in place. Example, La Cite residency program that supports 2-3 Australia artists in music, literature and the visual arts each year.
 
· Cultural diplomacy - This is largely associated with partnerships with the Department of Foreign Affairs around country profiles.Example, China 2010 the Australia Council partnered with DFAT to support a dedicated role in Beijing to facilitate touring in the regions and support great publicity for the Australian artists in the region.

· Aid and cultural development - Very little support in this area and it generally relates to community partnerships. Example, Community based arts practitioner mentored an African community based arts practitioner which lead to an artistic collaboration.

· International networking of artists or arts professionals - Predominantly around arts professionals .Example, support to place an Australian with the IETM for one year to develop skills and enhance partnerships/collaborations between Australia and this network of IETM producers.  Delegations of Australian artists/producers attend their plenary sessions each year.
 
· Representation (or agency office) in overseas countries - Currently, 2 offices in Europe.  One is tied to the performing arts and linked with IETM.  The other office is linked to the Berlin Embassy with oversight in the area of literature and visual arts.

Burundi
· Cultural diplomacy – support in terms of transit fees to artists who were invited in international events to represent and speak our pays.
Canada 
· Market development driven by export, fees generated or sales of arts product - The Audience and Market Development Office (AMDO) administers $2M in grants—a travel grants program and an annual/multi-year funding program for agents and managers in the performing arts—to directly support international activity.  AMDO also administers $250k in services to directly support education and activity on the international scene, networking and promoting Canadian art to the international community. 

· Artistic development eg, exchanges, residencies - Examples: Visiting foreign Artists Program, a residency type program for multi-disciplinary artists, amounted to $128,906 in 2009-10. Aboriginal Peoples Collaborative Exchange amounted to$234,800 in 2009-10. International Residencies Program in Visual Arts provided $272,000 in grants in 2009-10, plus $270,000 in services (e.g., rental of studio space) 

· Cultural diplomacy - The CCA does not have a mandate for cultural diplomacy, but will partner with Canadian embassies (who have a cultural diplomacy mandate) on mutually beneficial projects that support international activity by Canadian artists. 
	
· Aid and cultural development - N/A

· International networking of artists or arts professionals - The Audience and Market Development Office (AMDO) administers $2M in grants—a travel grants program and an annual/multi-year funding program for agents and managers in the performing arts—to directly support international activity which includes networking.  AMDO also administers $250,000 in services to directly support education and activity on the international scene, and networking and promoting Canadian art to the international community. 

· Representation (or agency office) in overseas countries - No. 

Ireland

As outlined in Q1 above, the Arts Council's role is in the area of the professional development of artists as they develop their practice abroad.  The majority of the Arts Council's funding for international arts is allocated to this area of activity. As outlined in Q1 above, the Arts Council's role is in the area of the professional development of artists as they develop their practice abroad.  The majority of the Arts Council's funding for international arts is allocated to this area of activity.

New Zealand

· Cultural diplomacy – the ministry is solely engaged in cultural diplomacy activity.

· Representation (or agency office) in overseas countries – the ministry has no representatives posted overseas.  Its offshore interests are represented to some extent by those government agencies which are members of the CDIP steering group.  These agencies all for offshore representation. 

Spain

· Market development driven by export, fees generated or sales of arts product – Yes, through support to facilitate cultural industries.

· Artistic development eg, exchanges, residencies – Yes – grants are available for cultural management training in artistic activities (such as the College of Spain in Rome) and for training in the world for specific projects.

· Cultural diplomacy – Yes through the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
	
· Aid and cultural development – Yes through the AECID Agency under the Ministry of Foreign Affairs

· International networking of artists or arts – N/A

· Representation (or agency office) in overseas countries – Cultural Centros Abroad Spain (under the Ministry of Foreign Affairs) and the Instituto Cervantes, dedicated to the dissemination of Spanish culture and language.

Sweden
International advocacy and promotion

 Question 6: As a national arts funding agency, do you have a role in raising the profile for the arts in the way your government promotes your country internationally and, if so, how do you achieve this? 

Australia
Not directly.  This is determined by DFAT in relations to government’s priorities in areas of security, water, technology, etc.  Our primary goal is not tied to promoting the broader country overseas – it is a by product.  Our primary goal is tied to 1) sustainability – fees generated overseas have a significant impact on a company’s ability to keep artists employed and continue creating work and 2) artistic practice – access to the international arts sector has an impact on the continual growth and development of the practices within Australia.
Burundi
The Burundian Drum is our ambassador to the world.
Canada
As an arm’s-length arts funding agency, CCA does not have a mandate to raise the profile of the arts internationally under the direction of the Canadian government. However, CCA partners with other government departments, such as the Department of Canadian Heritage (responsible for arts policy, programs and international relations) and the Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade and its embassies (responsible for cultural diplomacy), on mutually beneficially projects. CCA also participates on inter-governmental committees. 
Germany
The Foundation supports art and culture within the scope of federal competence.  One of its main objectives is to promote innovative programs and projects in an international context.
Ireland
As outlined in Q1 above, this is the role of Culture Ireland.
New Zealand
CDIP is concerned with economic outcomes for New Zealand.  CDIP proposals are judged therefore not only on their artistic or cultural merit, but also on the potential leveraging possibilities for New Zealand business, tourism and foreign affairs (among others).  That a CDIP event should be artistically or culturally excellent is not enough to fulfil current CDIP criteria – it must also present leverage opportunities for other public or private entities to further New Zealand’s broader interests.
Spain
(Santiago to translate)
Sweden
One of the aims of the Arts Council’s international strategy is to promote the role of arts and culture in all Sweden’s international relations. We are working to increase the role of arts & culture within the development cooperation, trade/export and nation branding, through cooperation with government agencies in charge of these issues.
Question 7: When selecting arts activities to support, does your agency prioritise particular countries or regions?  If so, in which countries and regions will you focus your support for international arts activity over the next three to five years?  How do you select these countries?  Is the selection of countries and regions negotiated in collaboration with other government departments – federal or state/local?
(NB: This information will only be used in an aggregated form so individual responses will remain confidential.)
Australia

For the period to 2011, we will focus on the following priorities in the area of market development –
i)        Asia with a priority on South Korea and China (including Macau, Hong Kong and Taiwan).
ii)       South America with a priority on Mexico and Brazil.
iii)     European Union with a priority on the Spain, Italy, Denmark, Finland and Sweden. 
iv)     Consolidation of North American market through key networks and circuits of presenters in Canada and the US.

These countries were selected based on – 
· Existing relationships (particularly true of EU and US) 
· Sustainable relationships tied to a country’s 
· infrastructure, professional networks, venues and circuits 
· fee structures and currency value 
· links with their artistic aesthetic and interests (particularly contemporary work) 
· new market importance (particularly for rising economies such as Brazil)

[bookmark: OLE_LINK2][bookmark: OLE_LINK1]These countries were not negotiated with government departments or through formal MOUs.  Where appropriate partnerships were sought with international arts agencies, such as the IETM in EU or festivals, such as Cervantes for South America.
 
Burundi
Does not provide funding for cultural activities organised in these countries.  As a non-aligned country accept invitations no matter where they come from.
Canada
As a member of the inter-departmental committee on International Strategic Framework, the CCA is aware of the Government’s priority countries—China, India, Colombia, France. However, the Government’s focus on these countries does not influence CCA in a direct way since most grants are awarded to artists by peer juries. Additionally, geo-political criteria are not part of the assessment process. 
When supporting audience and market development activities, there is analysis on markets but in the context of the current needs of and opportunities for artists. For example, priority funding may be given to a Canadian festival that plans to invite presenters/buyers from countries that are priority markets (a good match) for the type of artists showcasing at the festival. Some consideration has been given to developing a strategy on new and emerging markets, but work in this area has not yet been realized. 
Germany
The Federal Cultural foundation established the program area Central and Eastern Europe to encourage European artists to work together and establish permanent structures of cultural cooperation in Europe.
Ireland
No, the Arts Council does not prioritise particular countries or regions.
New Zealand
CDIP is regarded as a useful tool to maintain and develop a network of strong relationships to achieve the Government’s diplomatic and economic priorities in the above priority region.   To obtain the greatest value from the programme a strategic, planned and collaborative approach is taken to increase the pool of resources available to promote New Zealand’s interests.  The current focus is the Asia-Pacific region while also including some targeting initiatives in the United States.  
The above decision is taken in collaboration with the other CDIP partner agencies. 
Spain
· European Union (France, Portugal, United Kingdom, Germany and Italy) 
· Latin America (Brazil, Mexico, Argentina, Chile and Colombia) 
· North America (U.S. and Canada) 
· North Africa (Morocco and Egypt) 
· Pacific (China, Japan and Korea) 
Have so far been determined by the volume of export of cultural goods, and also areas that are considered potential markets with which it is intended to improve the contacts. 
In the new plan, we hope, has a list of priority areas.
Sweden
Support for artists’ mobility is demand driven, with no special priorities in regards to countries.
Evaluating International arts activities

Question 8: How do you meet the effectiveness of your agency's support for international arts activities? What criteria have you developed to undertake this assessment? If possible, please provide examples of recent evaluation reports.

Australia
Generally, assessment is undertaken project by project.  It is linked to 1) fees/income generated, 2) future commissions/coproductions 3) repeat relationships 4) media reviews.
Attached is a report prepared following the Australia Council’s investment and management of the Venice Biennale.
Burundi
We have no way to measure the effectiveness except images and the reports of heads of mission.
Canada
CCA’s international arts activities were created to be complimentary to programs in government departments. This strategy was based on the CCA’s emphasis on partnerships as a way to be more effective in its program delivery and support to artists. However, in recent years there have been significant cuts to the government programs that the CCA had aimed to partner with. As a result, there are less partners and less support to leverage.
All grant recipients submit final reports—a tool used to measure effectiveness of international activities. From final reports the following numbers are reported in the CCA Annual Report Corporate Scorecard for 2008-09: countries visited by artists (74); grants given to artists (722) and arts organizations (566) for work in an international context; support to visiting foreign artists including number of recipients (68) and number of countries represented (21).

Germany
The foundation uses in-house reports and documentations to evaluate its international activities.  Sometimes monitoring issues are used to evaluate grant programs.
Ireland
Artists report on their activities and the Arts Council's funding programmes are evaluated annually.
New Zealand
After each CDIP activity the post (that is, NZ Embassy or High Commission) as required to complete and evaluation of the project.  There are 7 parts to the Evaluation and includes the following:
1. Quality of activities and process:  satisfaction of attendees with the quality of performances and cultural activities; timeliness; were the performances excellent, distinctive and suited to promoting the broader interest of New Zealand?
2. Audience:  how many each event and activity
3. Quality of targeting of and attendance of key contacts:  who was invited?  Of those invited, who attended?  
4. Extent and quality of media profile of the performers
5. Meeting of CDIP criteria:  how did the project contribute to the meeting of the following objectives – diplomatic; tourism; trade and cultural
6. Lessons learnt – what worked and what did not
7. Budget report
Spain

Not specified.
Sweden
There has been no systematic evaluation made of the effectiveness of our support for international arts activities. But, for example, in the annual report for 2009, there is a chapter reasoning about the Arts Council’s current work integrating an international perspective in all the Council’s funding.
The amount of applied funding is increasing every year. This depends partly on the aim from the Arts Council to develop the international support from strictly travel grants, to a more dynamic project support, and to give priority to long term cooperation in different forms.
International touring
Question 9: Are there specific issues that affect international touring for your country's artists?  If so, what are these issues?
 
 Australia
There are a few issues affecting international touring for Australia at the moment – 
1. The GFC in the US and EU have a severe impact on those companies which have a business model tied to international activity. 
2. Visas and taxation – most arts organisations do not have the knowledge or skill to navigate complicated structures in the US and France.  Increasing security issues to access visas are adding substantial costs and delays. 
3. Green issue – while not a top priority for most in Australia, any emissions tax scheme applied either in Australia or overseas will impact severely the current business model for international touring. 
4. Lack of translation support – this is not an area of priority for grants programs in Australia which limits market potential, particularly within Asia and South America. 
5. Skills and Succession – the skills of arts professionals varies from arts organisation to arts organisations.  There isn’t any training or support mechanism to develop international market development or tour management.  Most learn by mistake.  The generation that developed international relations for Australia are retiring with no clear succession plan in place.  Most of the young talent heads overseas to the UK for work as a result of low salaries and remuneration packages in Australia. 
6. Reciprocity – Australia is not well known for extensive reciprocal relationships.  It is perceived as protectionist within its own borders and heavily export oriented in all partnership brokering schemes.  As most communities move into coproduction models or look for reciprocal agreements, funding models and attitudes toward reciprocity will need to be tackled. 
7. Issue of cultural diplomacy versus artistic practice versus market development – new funds have not been allocated to international activity over the last 3 years.  It is not a current government priority.  With stagnant funding levels and a lack of priority for public funds, new models are under discussion (e.g. expat fund in major centres, such as New York), priorities for funding are under discussion (is there more value in developing the artistic practice or supporting arts organisations to generate income?) and the value of a cultural diplomacy agenda is heavily disputed (how does multi-million dollar investment in China over a year impact artists in Australia? Their longer-term career?)
Burundi
The major problem is funding.  Several artists are invited but we have no money to fund.
Canada
1. Recent cuts to Government funding programs that directly supported international touring and cultural industries. Our inability to meet the demand of foreign presenters threatens to create some reluctance on the part of international community to ‘buy Canadian’ for fear that the basic travel subsidy often required to support an international invitation is denied due to lack of funds.

2. There is high competition for funds in the international touring programs of the CCA, and even more so now that the Government has ceased its funding programs.

3. Many companies need market preparedness training and education on how to successfully tour internationally. The CCA conducts international touring workshops. 

Germany
Wanderlust is an application-based fund that finances theatre partnership and exchange for two to three seasons.  In the first year, the theatres could exchange artistic personnel.  In the second year they might choose to host a guest production from their partner theatre. And in the third year, the theatres could organise a co-production to be performed at both locations.
Ireland
As outlined in Q1 above, this area of activity falls within the remit of Culture Ireland.
New Zealand
None.
Spain
Not specified.
Sweden
Question 10: IFACCA D’Art Report No. 17, Artists’ International Mobility Programs, December 2004, contained a list of good practices that should apply to artists' mobility (touring) programs.  Do you think the following list is relevant today?  Do you have anything to add or change in this list of principles?
 
Australia
The role of ‘presenter/curator/programmer’ needs to be reflected in any successful mobility program.  Artists cannot work offshore without a champion who often risks their own money to support that artist within their community.  Their role should be part of the selection process.  The notion of ‘audience’ needs to be central to the discussion if the result of this investment in mobility is to be sustainable.
Burundi
I think it is timely.
Canada
Agree with the above list of practices as they are implicit in our current programs and working principles.
Item to add:
promoting programs that support individual artist performance as an alternative to the more expensive process of touring full companies e.g., movement of choreographers and directors

Germany

The list above seems to be relevant for artists’ mobility, but it is important not to forget practice: The Foundation tries to connect theory and practice, therefore the foundation consults experts of practice.  This method is especially used while developing new programs.

Ireland

Yes, the list is appropriate to artists' mobility programmes such as the Arts Council's Travel and Training Award.

New Zealand

We are supportive of the above.

Spain
Not specified.
Sweden
Information resources

Question 11: Do you have any information resources relating to your international arts activity that would be useful models for other national arts funding agencies?  If so, please provide references below, including weblinks where possible, or attach resources to your email response.

Australia

Attached is a report on international funding from states and territories in Australia.
Burundi
Some links provided 
Canada
The CCA  strategic plan, Moving Forward 2008-2011 
1. On the Road: an on-line learning tool for presenters and touring artists in dance, music, theatre, young audience and spoken word. 
2. CCA Annual Report Corporate Scorecard 
3. A summary of funding for work in an international context, on the CCA website. 
4. Guidelines for grants for international touring and travel, residencies, exchanges and studio programs: music, inter-arts, dance, theatre, media arts, aboriginal arts, visual arts, writing and publishing.  
5. Guidelines for travel grants from the Audience and Market Development that support the travel for foreign presenters invited to Canadian festivals 
6. Online summary of Canada Council funding for work in an international context 
Germany
See question 10.
Ireland
No response.
New Zealand
Some references provided
Spain
Not specified.
Sweden
Our web based resource for promotion of Swedish literature abroad is still in development, but will hopefully be a good resource for both news, information and funding opportunities : http://www.kulturradet.se/swedishliterature
Critical issues
Question 12: What are the critical issues for your organisation regarding international arts activity that you would like to know more about from other national arts funding agencies?
 
· What grant management system do they have in place to track activity, investment? (Australia) 
· Do they produce an events calendar of offshore activity? (Australia) 
· Are they investigating new business models outside of public funds to support international activities? (Australia) 
· Do they invest in dedicated studios/residencies?  How do they support residencies?  Are they tied to public presentation? (Australia) 
· How do they measure success in this area?  Do they undertake longitudinal research? (Australia) 
· What is their relationship to government?  Arms length or heavily contingent? (Australia) 
· Have they done any research on better models to support international activities (i.e. not supported through funding agencies) (Australia) 
· How do we invite international NGOs to support cultural activities? (Burundi) 
· Is there an NGO that supports the international mobility of artists? (Burundi) 
· Ensuring artistic exchange in the context of decreasing resources. (Canada) 
· Keeping borders open. (Canada) 
· Tax issues and work permits (Canada) 
· The role of arts agencies in trouble shooting these above mentioned issues, both in individual project situations and in influencing long term policy. (Canada) 
· Indigenous artists programs and artist directories to facilitate connections with Canadian artists. (Canada) 
· It would be a good idea to harmonise funding in different countries and to get an overview about the different methods of funding and supporting cultural activities.  It is often difficult for arts professionals to establish cooperation between different countries when there are administrational problems and/or differences in the budget of arts funding agencies. (Germany) 
· Artists exchange program with member nations of IFACCA. (South Korea) 
· Sharing information on residency programs and non-for-profit arts (South Korea) 
· How do we argue for the value of arts and culture in foreign relations without losing track of arts own value? (Sweden)
IFACCA support
Question 13: Do you think there are any aspects of government support for international arts activities that IFACCA could help facilitate at a global level?  If so, please describe how IFACCA may be able to assist.

· Research on economic benefits for arts organisations touring internationally. (Australia)
· Research/tools to manage visas and taxation issues across countries. (Australia)
· Propose a project of international donors to support the management of international transport for artists and enable organisers of major international events to invite more artists. (Burundi)
· Encourage NGOs to work in poor countries to identify the needs of artists and to advocate for them. (Burundi)
· Funding for Aboriginal international culture/artistic exchanges or cultural ambassadors, i.e. Polar Institute in London. (Canada)
· IFACCA could be the best international network to share and initiate the co-working and collaborating of member countries, e.g. a mini-summit on international arts activities. (South Korea)
Future Research
Question 14: Are there any comments or ideas you may have about this questionnaire or future research in this area?
· Information on trends in touring; fee structures, permits, visas, taxation, and how to ensure international exchange opportunities remain rich and diverse. (Canada)
· Information on Aboriginal programs of other arts councils and art administration curriculum. (Canada)
· IFACCA D'Art report is very helpful to introduce IFACCA's activities to Korea. (South Korea)
· A survey of member countries on the demand for research.  (South Korea)
· Survey each nation's most influential festivals.  (South Korea)
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Appendix 4: Questionnaire

IFACCA D’ART RESEARCH QUESTION No. 40
Supporting international arts activity – issues for national arts funding agencies
18 June 2010


CONTEXT

Artists have always sought opportunities to showcase their work internationally and to travel and experience different cultures in order to develop their work in new directions.  Globalisation and advances in technology have increased opportunities for artists to present their work in the international marketplace although current environmental pressures are having an impact.  

National arts funding agencies play a role in supporting artists to work internationally.  There is a perception by some, that in recent times the focus on cultural diplomacy may have shifted the priorities for some countries away from direct support for individual artists and market development towards supporting artistic activity to promote national identity and culture. 

IFACCA has been interested for some time in exploring how national arts funding agencies manage their support for international arts activities in the current environment.  We are circulating the following questionnaire to help us to understand the background and critical issues. 

For the purposes of this research we have defined ‘international arts activity’ to cover the whole range of activity such as market development (export and sales of artworks, national promotions at expos and art fairs, touring, markets, festivals and biennales); artistic development (artist-to-artist networks, cultural exchange, residencies, networking); cultural diplomacy; and arts activity as part of foreign aid programs.

The aims of this background research are to:

· identify the critical issues for national arts funding agencies in terms of their engagement on the international stage; and
· gather information from national arts funding agencies about their priorities for international activities in other countries and how these priorities are determined and evaluated.

IFACCA has published some research reports related to this topic, the most recent being IFACCA D’Art Report No. 39, Achieving Intercultural Dialogue through the Arts and Culture?  Concepts, Policies, Programs, Practices, December 2009 and IFACCA D’Art Report No. 17, Artists’ International Mobility Programs, December 2004.  Some other references are listed at the end of the questionnaire.  While it is not our intention to repeat this work there may be some areas of overlap where we can reference and refresh the previous studies. The IFACCA website contains a list of our D’Art research topics.  We welcome suggestions for additional resources at info@ifacca.org

ABOUT THE QUESTIONNAIRE

· We are distributing this questionnaire to all national arts funding agencies as part of an initial information gathering exercise to identify the critical issues of interest. 

· A discussion paper will be prepared for a special forum to be held in September this year to coincide with the IFACCA Board meeting in Madrid, Spain, as well as for other IFACCA member meetings. 

· Following these discussions the IFACCA secretariat will identify any further research requirements and publish a summary of the responses to this questionnaire.

· We have already collected some references as outlined in this document.  We are very keen to know of any additional references that would add to the body of knowledge on this topic.

WHAT TO DO?

· Please answer the questions below and email your responses to IFACCA at l.cahill@ifacca.org or fax to +61 2 9215 9111.

· If there is insufficient space to answer any of the questions, please attach further information on a separate sheet.

· If you know of someone else in your agency who is better placed to respond, please forward this questionnaire to them.

· The deadline for responses is 9 July 2010.

· A summary of responses will be sent to respondents prior to publication of the discussion paper.


MORE INFORMATION?
We hope that this area of research will be of interest to all national arts agencies working to create international opportunities for artists.
If you have any questions about this survey please contact Lisa Cahill, Research Project Manager, at l.cahill@ifacca.org.
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IFACCA D’ART RESEARCH QUESTION No. 40
Supporting international arts activity – issues for national arts funding agencies
18 June 2010

 (
Please email responses to 
l.cahill@ifacca.org
 or 
FAX TO:
Lisa Cahill, Research Project Manager, IFACCA
Fax No:
+61 2 9215 9111
)QUESTIONNAIRE



Please complete the following details:
Country: ___________________________________________________________________

Organisation: _______________________________________________________________

Website: ___________________________________________________________________

Contact details:  	Name: __________________________________________________
			
Position: ________________________________________________

Email: __________________________________________________

Phone: _________________________________________________

Question 1: 

Which government agencies in your country are involved in policy development and program administration for international arts activities?  Please tick the agencies involved. 

For each one please write the name of the agency and their website URL.  Please provide a brief overview of each agency’s responsibilities.

 National arts funding agency (arts council)
 Arts or culture ministry
 Foreign Affairs ministry (within country)
 Embassies or High Commissions (Foreign affairs ministry internationally)
 Joint committee of government agencies 
 Separate body responsible for supporting international arts and culture activities

Question 2:

If your organisation supports international arts activities, what are your current objectives for that support over the next three to five years?  Do you have an international strategy?  If so, please attach a copy.
Question 3: 
Are there staff in your organisation who have specific responsibility for managing support for international arts activities?
· Yes
· No
If yes, how many or what proportion of the overall agency staff numbers work solely on international programs, and how many or what proportion of staff work on international programs as well as other having other responsibilities?  Are the staff located in one unit or spread throughout the organisation?
	


Question 4:
In the current year, what proportion of the agency’s overall budget is allocated to support international arts activity?  How does this compare with the situation in the previous three to five years?  In the next three to five years do you expect this amount will increase or decrease?
(NB: This information will only be used in an aggregated form so individual responses will remain confidential.)
	


Question 5:
As a national arts funding agency, which of the following international cultural activities do you support?  Please give examples of your grant programs or other programs of support for each activity.  Please also indicate the level of funding associated with each of these categories as a proportion of the agency’s international arts support budget.  
· Market development driven by export, fees generated or sales of arts product 
_________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________

· Artistic development eg, exchanges, residencies
_________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________

· Cultural diplomacy
_________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________
· Aid and cultural development
_________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________
· International networking of artists or arts professionals
_________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________

· Representation (or agency office) in overseas countries
_________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________

Question 6:
As a national arts funding agency, do you have a role in raising the profile for the arts in the way your government promotes your country internationally and, if so, how do you achieve this?

Question 7:
When selecting arts activities to support, does your agency prioritise particular countries or regions?  If so, in which countries and regions will you focus your support for international arts activity over the next three to five years?  How do you select these countries?  Is the selection of countries and regions negotiated in collaboration with other government departments – federal or state/local?
(NB: This information will only be used in an aggregated form so individual responses will remain confidential.)
Question 8:
How do you measure the effectiveness of your agency’s support for international arts activities?  What criteria have you developed to undertake this assessment?  If possible, please provide examples of recent evaluation reports.

Question 9:
Are there specific issues that affect international touring for your country’s artists?  If so, what are these issues?

Question 10:
IFACCA D’Art Report No. 17, Artists’ International Mobility Programs, December 2004, contained a list of good practices that should apply to artists’ mobility (touring) programs.  Do you think the following list is relevant today?  Do you have anything to add to or change in this list of principles?

A mobility (touring) program that has the primary objective of the artistic development of an artist and their work, and which aspires to be ‘unselfish’ in its motivation and execution, might embody all or some of the following qualities:
· Transparent: an open, visible, widely advertised program with clearly established  deadlines, application guidelines and selection procedures.
· Professional: a selection process that is respected by artists, hosts and the cultural sector. Published selection criteria and a professional jury that includes artists are both recommended.
· Process/Project oriented: this places the artist-directed creative process at the centre of the program. 
· Open / Responsive / Flexible: the program offers the artist a degree of autonomy to propose where to go, when to go, who to meet and how to organize their visit. For programs with an open application policy, rather than an annual deadline, it is important to implement a quick guaranteed turnaround time for applicants.
· Learning experience: a program should provide this for all partners (artist, host, funding body) and seek to feed this learning back into the program development.
Most of the good practices listed above should be applicable to all funding programs for international artists’ mobility, whatever the overall objective. 

Question 11:
Do you have any information resources relating to your international arts activity that would be useful models for other national arts funding agencies?  If so, please provide references below, including weblinks where possible, or attach resources to your email response.

Question 12:
What are the critical issues for your organisation regarding international arts activity that you 
would like to know more about from other national arts funding agencies?  

Question 13:
Do you think there are any aspects of government support for international arts activities that IFACCA could help facilitate at a global level?  If so, please describe how IFACCA may be able to assist.

Question 14:
Are there any other comments or ideas you have about this questionnaire or future research in this area?

Thank you very much for completing this survey.
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